
 

 

 

 

Meeting: EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Date: Wednesday 3rd August, 2022 

Time: 9.30 am 

Venue: Council Chamber, Bowling Green Road, Kettering, NN15 7QX 

 
To members of the EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
 
Councillors Lloyd Bunday (Chair),  Jean Addison, Bert Jackson, Ian Jelley, King Lawal and 
Richard Levell 
 

Agenda 

 

Item Subject Presenting 
Officer 

Page no. 

01   Apologies 
 

  

02   Members' Declarations of Interest 
 

  

03   Minutes of the Meeting Held on 29th June 2022 
 

 3 - 7 

Items for Discussion 

04   Kettering High Street Heritage Action Zone 
(HSHAZ) - Phase 3 
 

 9 - 18 

05   Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work 
Programme 
 

 19 - 28 

Adele Wylie, Monitoring Officer 
North Northamptonshire Council 

 
Proper Officer 

Tuesday 26th July 2022 
 

 
This agenda has been published by Democratic Services. 
Committee Administrator: David Pope 
01536 535661 
david.pope@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Public Participation  
Executive Advisory Panels are not subject to the full Local Government Act 1972 (as  
amended). Public meeting requirements do not apply for these meetings. If you wish to  
attend the meeting, please contact the named Democratic Services Officer or email  
democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Members’ Declarations of Interest  
Members are reminded of their duty to ensure they abide by the approved Member Code 
of Conduct whilst undertaking their role as a Councillor. Where a matter arises at a 
meeting which relates to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, you must declare the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless granted a dispensation.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to other Registerable Interests, you 
must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the matter 
unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or relates to a financial interest of a relative, friend or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest and not vote on the matter unless granted 
a dispensation. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting.  
 
Members are reminded that they should continue to adhere to the Council’s approved 
rules and protocols during the conduct of meetings. These are contained in the Council’s 
approved Constitution.  
 
If Members have any queries as to whether a Declaration of Interest should be made 
please contact the Monitoring Officer at – monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Press & Media Enquiries  
Any press or media enquiries should be directed through the Council’s Communications 
Team to NNU-Comms-Team@northnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Public Enquiries  
Public enquiries regarding the Authority’s meetings can be made to 
democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 2



 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
At 9.30 am on Wednesday 29th June, 2022 in the Members' Room, Third Floor, Corby 
Cube, George Street, Corby, NN17 1QG 
 
Present:- 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Lloyd Bunday (Chair)   
Councillor Jean Addison 
Councillor Bert Jackson 
 

Councillor Richard Levell 
 

 
Officers 
Lisa Hyde – Director of Transformation 
Graeme Kane - Assistant Director of Highways & Waste 
Charlotte Tompkins – Waste Manager 

  
 

Mike Greenway – Community Partnerships Manager 
David Pope – Senior Committee Administrator 
 
Also in attendance – Councillors Graham Lawman, Anne Lee, Martin Griffiths and 
Mike Tebbutt 
 
 

67 Apologies  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Ian Jelley and King Lawal. 
 
 

68 Members' Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations were received. 
 
 

69 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12th May 2022  
 
RESOLVED that: The Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive 
Advisory Panel agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 12th May 2022 as a true 
and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
 

70 Extension of the Public Spaces Protection Order - Kettering Town Centre  
 
The panel received a report that detailed the intention to ask Executive, at its 14th July 
2022 meeting, to consider and approve the extension of a Public Spaces Protection 
Order (PSPO) covering the town centre of Kettering. The panel was asked to consider 
the report and associated draft order and provide comments in that regard. 
 
Cllr Anne Lee addressed the panel in relation to this item, stating that while she was in 
favour of the PSPO being renewed, elements relating to a prohibition on the use of 
skateboards and provision for the removal of persons under the age of 18 from the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



town centre were discriminatory and should be removed from the revised order. Cllr 
Lee noted that the vast majority of respondents to the consultation were also against 
the skateboarding ban and that Kettering Town Council had unanimously voted that 
this element should be removed from the final approved order. 
 
The meeting heard that the current PSPO was due to expire on 22nd July 2022 having 
initially been put in place in July 2016 by the former Kettering Borough Council and 
subsequently extended in 2019. The prohibitions that formed the PSPO were aimed at 
tackling various anti-social behaviours, all of which are deemed to have a detrimental 
effect on the local community. 
 
Initial consultation with Kettering Town Council, Northamptonshire Police and the 
Office of the Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (OPF&CC) saw 
support for the extension of the PSPO from all parties. However, all three 
organisations indicated that they felt the skateboarding prohibition was unduly 
restrictive. Furthermore, the OPF&CC raised concerns about the prohibition 
concerning ‘Under 18s staying in the specified area after being requested to leave by 
an authorised officer’. Their view was that this should be amended to cover every one 
of any age as the specified area was a significant part of the Night-Time Economy and 
might also be seen as too restrictive and discriminatory towards a certain age group. 
 
The public consultation undertaken as part of the renewal process had recently closed 
with a significant number of responses received, with a roughly 50/50 split as to 
extending the PSPO with a similar number in favour of removing the prohibition in 
relation to skateboarding. In addition, strong views had been received regarding 
perceived discrimination against certain societal groups.  
 
It was noted that at the point the PSPO had been introduced there had been issues 
with both anti-social skateboarding and activities involving underage individuals 
associated with the night-time economy in Kettering which, over the intervening years, 
had significantly reduced.  
 
Members discussed the current prohibitions at length and noted that those relating to 
skateboarding and the removal of under 18’s from the town centre upon request could 
be considered discriminatory. It was further noted that the Council had a duty to 
protect its heritage assets in the town centre from damage as a result of the misuse of 
skateboards. 
 
It was therefore  
 
RESOLVED: That the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive 
Advisory Panel recommended to the Executive the following amendments to the 
Public Spaces Protection Order for Kettering town centre: 

 

 The removal of the prohibited areas covering Morrisons Supermarket.  

 

 Amendment of the prohibition: Use of skateboards and misuse of bikes/ 

scooters in the specified area to the misuse of skateboards, bikes and scooters 

in the specified area. 

 

 Amendment of the prohibition: Under 18’s staying after a request to go by an 

authorised officer so that it covers persons of all ages not just under 18s.  

Page 4



71 Garden Waste: Future Service Provision  
 
Members of both the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers and Climate 
Change, Environment and Growth Executive Advisory Panels received a presentation 
that detailed the results of the public survey undertaken between March 2022 and 
April 2022 in relation to the future service provision of garden waste in North 
Northamptonshire. It was noted that a decision on future service arrangements was 
due to be considered by Executive at its meeting on 14th July 2022.  
 
The meeting heard that as a result of previous arrangements implemented by the 
former local authorities, the current garden waste service differed across North 
Northamptonshire. The Executive was therefore seeking to harmonise the service so 
that all residents received the same level of service, and the service was funded in the 
same way. The current services provided in each area were outlined as below: 

  

Area 
Collection Period Subscription 

Charge 

Corby and Kettering  12 months, alternate 
weekly 

Nil 

East Northants 12 months, alternate 
weekly 

£55 per annum 
 

Wellingborough  Early Mar – Early Nov, 
alternate weekly 

Nil 

 
The panel noted that a consultation relating to future service provision had been 

heavily promoted and involved elected members, town and parish councils, partner 

organisations and local businesses. In addition, views had been sought from the 

Council’s resident’s panel and from those on the council’s consultation register. The 

Communications Team had also been in contact with 38 local newsrooms, reporters 

and news sites as well as publicising the consultation via the Council’s website and 

social media channels.  

 

It was heard that approximately 9600 responses had been received, with 9447 online 

questionnaire responses received and 140 written responses. Comments made had 

been mirrored by both online and physical submissions. 

 

The meeting considered that whilst the consultation results were informative, they did 

not necessarily represent the views of all residents because the vast majority (99.5%) 

of respondents had a garden. If more residents without a garden had responded, the 

panel believed the responses to the questions regarding how the service should be 

funded may have been different. 

 

The meeting also noted that 73% of respondents wished for a harmonised green 

waste service, with 79% considering that wider taxation from all residents should bear 

the cost of the service. 

 

Data was provided in relation to the following aspects of a garden waste service: 

 

 Propensity to subscribe to a subscription-based collection service 

 Propensity to subscribe based on specific service price brackets 

 Demand for additional green waste bins 

 Payment methods 
Page 5



 Current and planned green waste disposal methods 

 Collection periods 

 Any additional comments 

 

A high proportion of respondents raised concerns regarding additional fly-tipping of 

green waste and potential misuse of black bins should any subscription service be 

introduced for all North Northamptonshire residents. In addition, concerns were raised 

regarding affordability and the belief that the service should already be covered as part 

of existing Council Tax payments. 

 

Finally, the panel received details regarding the tonnage of garden waste currently 

collected, noting a high yield in the first half of the year, with a drop off from August 

and a spike in autumn followed by low collection rates during the winter period.  

 

Members asked questions and made comments in relation to the following aspects of 

the garden waste service and proposals: 

 

 The collection service should operate across the whole 12-month calendar 

 The “break-even” point of service operation under a subscription scheme 

 The potential impact on household waste centres should a subscription model 

be introduced 

 Christmas tree collection under an 8-month collection system 

 Potential rebates for East Northamptonshire residents currently paying for 

green waste collection 

 How collection crews would know who subscribers were if a subscription model 

was introduced 

 Safeguards for those residents on low income 

 

In response to member’s interest in the waste treatment process and the end 

destination of the garden waste, it was explained that material was sent for 

composting and the majority of the resultant compost was used as soil conditioner on 

agricultural land.  

 

Following debate, it was  

 

RESOLVED: That the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive 

Advisory Panel made the following recommendations to the Executive:  

 

 The Panel supported the proposal to harmonise the garden waste service, so 

all residents received the same service and for the service to be funded in the 

same way across North Northamptonshire. 

  

 The panel also supported the introduction of a 12-month service rather than an 

eight month one. 

 

 In light of the cost-of-living pressures experienced at present, the panel noted 

that a subscription service could put further pressure on some households, and 

this should be considered when making any decision. 

 
 

Page 6



72 Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work Programme  
 
Members received the Executive Forward Plan and the work programme for the panel 
and noted upcoming items for both, including an item for the next meeting in relation 
to Online Ceremony Bookings. 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Chair 

 
___________________________________ 

Date 
 
The meeting closed at 11.13 am 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



                                    

 

 
 
 

SERVICE DELIVERY, PERFORMANCE AND CUSTOMERS 
EXECUTIVE ADVISORY PANEL 

 3 August 2022 
 

 
List of Appendices 
 
None 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. This report seeks to inform Members of the work in delivering improvements to 

Kettering town centre with the support of funding from Historic England’s High 
Street Heritage Action Zone fund.  Also, to update on arrangements for the 
remaining programme, which includes a Phase 3 of the public realm works.  

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 In 2019, Kettering Borough Council was successful in a bid to Historic England 

for High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) funding.  As a result, up to 
£1,985,000 of external funds was identified for investment for the four years of 
the project.  This was matched by funding from the Council. 
 

2.2 The HSHAZ programme supports project delivery within high street 
conservation areas. The main objectives of the programme are: 
 

 To change perceptions of heritage and high streets; 

 To support sustainable economic and cultural growth on and around high 
streets; and 

 To restore and enhance local historic character. 
 

2.3 The Covid-19 pandemic was restrictive for the Council in making progress in the 
first year of the scheme.  However, in year two Council officers set a challenge 
programme for investment in both public realm enhancements and building 
grants.  It was a successful year, as having already set challenging targets, the 
Council was also successful in securing additional funds to carry out further 
public realm improvements with the addition of £150,000 in Summer 2021, and 
a further £503,631 in Winter 2021/22.  In both instances the scheme spends 
were required to be spent before the end of the financial year. 

Report Title 
 

Kettering High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) – 
Phase 3 

Report Author Simon Richardson - Interim Planning Policy Lead 
Manager 
simon.richardson@northnorthants.gov.uk  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

mailto:simon.richardson@northnorthants.gov.uk


 
2.4 During this period, with the support of Historic England, the Council also 

extended the HSHAZ area to enable the scheme to support the preparation of 
a study to be undertaken on the Grade II* Listed Sawyer’s Almshouses.  The 
area was also expanded to include the historic Manor House Garden in the town 
centre. 
 

2.5 The Council proposes to reassign some of the funding from within HSHAZ 
scheme to deliver a Phase 3 of public realm, this being at Gold Street.  The 
funds used will be drawn primarily from funding already allocated for public 
realm but will also redirected funds identified for historic buildings grants and 
also funds secured from Section 106 Agreements that would otherwise have 
been invested in Lower Street. 
 

2.6 The estimated cost of the Phase 3 Public Realm works is put at £460,000.  The 
Council’s contractors have been appointed through the Scape Framework.  
Project officers and the Procurement Team are working closely to ensure the 
benefits of the existing delivery arrangements are maintained, to reduce the risk 
of rising prices and cost of materials as it is considered significant efficiencies 
can be achieved. 
 

2.7 Historic England has endorsed the approach of the reallocation of funds and are 
keen to retain the current delivery arrangement if possible. 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 That Members of the Service Delivery, Performance & Customers Executive 

Advisory Panel consider the content of this report, which will also be forwarded 
on to the Council’s Executive for endorsement.  
 
Reason for Recommendation: 
 

3.2 To provide Member awareness and update on the shaping of investment in the 
remaining period of the Kettering High Street Heritage Action Zone programme.  

 
4. Report Background 

 
4.1 Kettering town centre, like many areas, has been facing the challenge of a 

changing town centre environment.  Although town centres are still important 
shopping places, they are also increasingly important places for people to live, 
work and enjoy leisure time.  In recognition of these universal challenges, in 
May 2019 Historic England launched a £95 million fund named High Streets 
Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ). 
 

4.2 The High Street HAZ programme enables local authorities to bid for funding 
through a competitive process. The primary purpose of the fund is to support 
historic high streets and town centres in conservation areas through physical 
improvements, community engagement and cultural activities. Any funding 
awarded through HSHAZ must be match funded by the Council and would seek 
to leverage further investment from the private sector. 
 

4.3 In 2019, Historic England announced that Kettering was one of 69 towns 
nationally that had been successful in its bid.  Kettering Borough Council 

Page 10



followed this with the development and approval of a Stage 2 Programme 
Design, to receive an external funding amount of up to £1,985,000 over the four 
years of the programme. 
 

4.4 The HSHAZ programme provides funding to support project delivery within high 
street conservation areas. The main objectives of the programme are: 
 

 To change perceptions of heritage and high streets; 

 To support sustainable economic and cultural growth on and around high 
streets; and 

 To restore and enhance local historic character. 
 

4.5 Delivery runs for a maximum of four years, which started in April 2020, as such 
the scheme is currently in its third year.  There has clearly been some disruption 
in the early period of the project due to the Covid-19 pandemic, however last 
year can have been a very successful year in terms of investment and delivery. 
 

4.6 The Kettering HSHAZ programme includes support in the following themes: 
 
a. Kettering Heritage Action Zone  
The HSHAZ was required to focus on the commercial conservation area within 
the town centre, this defines the area that is eligible for inclusion within the 
planned works and grant schemes over the four-year programme.  A 
requirement of the programme was to identify key priority areas within the Zone, 
this is to ensure a sequenced programme can be financially profiled, as well as 
recognise ‘hotspot’ areas requiring more focused attention.  However, it was 
recognised that this did not preclude other areas across the HSHAZ area from 
being eligible for funding support. The priority areas confirmed reflect the 
feedback received from stakeholders, members of the public, assessment 
conducted by Kettering Borough Council planners, and were defined in 
consultation with a Lead Officer at Historic England. 
 
b. HSHAZ Project Management 
A new resource was built into the period of the programme.  This role was to 
manage and lead the Kettering HSHAZ programme and draw upon additional 
retained consultancy including specialist architectural resource to inform and 
support schemes. They work closely with the planners based at the Kettering 
area office and have presented regularly to the Kettering HSHAZ Project Board 
and the Programme Board, who monitor the grant schemes. 
 
 

c. Kettering HSHAZ Programme Board  
The Board consists of officers and Members of North Northamptonshire Council, 
and representatives from the Cultural Consortium, Community Expert Group 
and Historic England.  The board is responsible for monitoring and evaluating 
relevant HSHAZ grant schemes and ensuring continuity between the HSHAZ 
capital schemes and future cultural programme.  The Programme Board is 
informed by the HSHAZ Project Manager.  The Board has met less frequently 
over the last 9 months or so, in part due to the success of the Kettering Scheme 
in agreeing an ambitious programme of spend, but also securing additional 
funds conditional on delivery within the 2021/22 financial year.  To ensure 
Members of the Board are up to date with the programme, tours have been 
provided to continue their involvement in the scheme. 

Page 11



 
d. Community Engagement  

The approach taken with regards community engagement has followed a desire 
to build ongoing meaningful place-based engagement, focused on a 
regenerative approach; Engagement, Participation, Partnership and 
Leadership, via a variety of activities including: stakeholder workshops, 
information & consultation events, community portal, community champions, 
engagement with key groups. 
 

e. Shopfront / frontage improvement grant scheme  
A grant scheme with guidance made available aimed at property owners, the 
scheme uses a refreshed version of the former Borough Council’s Shopfront 
Improvement Design Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

f. Residential / Alternative Conversion grant scheme 
A grant scheme which encourages investment requests for capital spend 
towards upper floor residential conversion and/or alternative uses. 
 

g. Historic Building Improvement grant scheme 
A grant scheme which encourages investment requests for structural 
improvements from commercial property owners within the HSHAZ area. This 
scheme is focusing on key buildings which have been identified following more 
detailed analysis.  Buildings include the Listed Royal Hotel in Market Place, and 
the former Burton’s Menswear store in High Street, this was once an historic 
public house. 

 
h. Public Realm and Street Scene improvements 

Public realm works are being funded from the HSHAZ scheme, although there 
are significant limitations to the level of funding support eligible via this 
programme.  However, Historic England has recognised that improvements are 
integral to the success of the Kettering HSHAZ scheme.  This funding has 
delivered, or plans delivery on the following: 

a. Phase 1 - the continuation of the existing style of public realm 
found in Market Place, from the Market Place into the High 
Street to the edge of McDonalds and down Meadow Road 
(see Map 1 below); together with gateway improvements to 
the pedestrianised area at the top of Gold Street and in Lower 
Street; 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. Phase 2 - will extend the area of investment in public realm 
further north in High Street, between Dryland Street and 
Crispin Place, repeating the same style of surface and 
furniture materials in place at Phase 1, High Street and 
Meadow Road. 

c. Phase 3 – is expected to be the final work undertaken utilising 
the High Street HAZ funds.  More will be provided on the 
plans for this investment later in this report. 

 
4.7 Detailed scheme designs have been prepared for the Council by its lead 

designers Influence and delivered by Balfour Beatty and their sub-contractors 
Kelbec.  The main contractor appointment was made under the Scape Civil 
Engineering framework. 
 

4.8 Although having agreed a programme of spend for the High Street HAZ funds, 
it’s been important to keep this under review.  It has also been of significant 
value the Council being active and responsive in its programme, especially 
when building a reputation and confidence amongst its partners in delivering on 
projects, to budget and agreed timescales.  The Council has been fortunate in 
securing two additional sums of funding for projects, in part by demonstrating to 
Historic England that it can meet any conditions of the additional investment.  In 
both instances the grants were in full, not requiring match funding from the 
authority or the private sector. 
 

4.9 The first was for £150,000 to provide for the refurbishment of granite cobbles in 
West Street.  The second is for the extension of public realm works to High 
Street (referred to as phase 2) amounting to £503,631. 
 

4.10 Shopfront improvement, building improvement and building conversion 
schemes have been, and continue to be carried out in the HSHAZ area, reliant 
upon meeting specific criteria and with match funding from property owners. 
 

High Street public 
realm improvements  
- illustration purpose 
only 

Page 13



4.11 The Council has also worked with Historic England in extending the High Street 
HAZ boundary after the Chief Executive of the Almshouses Association 
expressed concern that the Sawyer’s Almshouses in Bowling Green Road may 
have fallen into a state of disrepair.  A photograph of the building in question is 
provided below to help with the building’s identity. 
 

 
Sawyer’s Almshouses, Sheep Street, Kettering 

 
4.12 It was agreed to formally extend the area to include Sawyer’s Almshouses, and 

also the Manor House Gardens opposite as an area of historic public garden 
space serving the town.  Please see the plan below.  Both meet characteristics 
expected to be found in the High Street HAZ area and fall within the Kettering 
Town Centre Conservation Area.  A plan showing the extended area is provided 
below.  A detailed survey of the Almshouses has been funded by HSHAZ.   
 

Page 14



 
Proposed extension to the High Street HAZ boundary shown in red 

 

  
4.13 The indicative total funds identified for Kettering High Street HAZ initially 

amounted to just under £4 million, the majority of which was identified for capital 
projects, namely shopfront and building improvement grants, and public realm 
enhancements.  This rose to circa £4,150,000 with Historic England’s additional 
grant commitment for West Street, and then circa £4,650,000 as a result of the 
additional grant secured in delivering phase 2 of the public realm works earlier 
this calendar year.   

 

4.14 As the High Street HAZ scheme has evolved over the last few years, the need 
to reassess priorities for investment has changed too.  It is also important to 
ensure the Council is optimising the available budget, whilst it is still available. 
 

Public Realm Phase 3 – Extension of Gold Street 
 

4.15 Although the take up of historic buildings grants has been healthy, the HSHAZ 
Project Team is mindful that there may be greater certainty and benefit from 
investing additional funds into further public realm enhancements, which have 
brought with them a marked improvement in the historic character of the town 
centre, accessibility and increased footfall.  An area has been identified to the 
south of the works already undertaken in Gold Street, this is being referred to 
as Public Realm Phase 3. 
 

4.16 A clear justification for investing in this area right now is that a number of 
shopfront works and repairs have been undertaken in this part of Gold Street.  

Page 15



Investing in public realm will complement the work on the shopfronts, elevating 
the appearance and investment already made.  In addition, this area is a prime 
High Street location, the potential benefits and likely increase in investment and 
footfall will likely grow even more as a result. 

 
4.17 Funding to support this investment is proposed to be sourced from within the 

HSHAZ scheme budget, this means adjusting the focus from some other 
themes.  One such area is to redirect a small contribution from the budget that 
would otherwise be directed towards shopfront grants.  Time to attract 
applications from property owners, and the match funding they would contribute, 
is running tighter.  It is still possible this element of the budget could be invested 
in full but, there is a risk that applications don’t come in, or there’s a delay in 
contractors being appointed to carry out the works, which would take this outside 
of the spend window of the scheme.  Any underspend would be returned to 
Historic England. 
 

4.18 It is proposed to reallocate a contribution that would otherwise have been 
directed towards a minor scheme at the gateway in Lower Street, instead to 
Phase 3.  This contribution is from Section 106 Agreements identified for 
Kettering town centre improvements.  The change in location retains the funding 
for the same purpose, so won’t be in contravention of the legal agreements.  The 
perceived benefits from investing these funds in a scheme in Gold Street are 
considered to be far greater.  The balance of the funding is sourced from 
contributions already allocated in the scheme budget for public realm works. 
 

4.19 The estimated cost of the Phase 3 Public Realm works is put at £460,000.  The 
Council’s contractors, Balfour Beatty, appointed through the Scape Framework 
have costed a designed-up scheme for the Council.  Project officers and the 
Procurement Team are working closely to ensure we realise the benefits of 
existing delivery arrangements on site to reduce the risk of rising prices and cost 
of materials as it is considered significant efficiencies can be achieved. 
 

4.20 Historic England has endorsed the approach of the reallocation of funds and are 
keen to retain the current delivery arrangement if possible as they reaffirm their 
confidence in the Council and its project team on site. 
 

4.21 The views of Members are sought on the content of this report, including the 
proposals around Phase 3 of the public realm works. 

 
5. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
5.1 Resources, Financial & Transformational 

 
5.1.1 Funding is drawn from both the Council’s and Historic England’s budgets, the 

Council’s contributions having originally been committed by Kettering Borough 
Council and subsequently carried forward as a commitment into North 
Northamptonshire Council’s budget.  This consists of match funding as well as 
support in kind.  The additional £150,000 for West Street and £503,631 funding 
offered by Historic England for public realm works are both full grants, the 
Council is not required to match fund the offer made.  The spend profile will be 
managed through the High Street HAZ Board and monitored by the Strategic 
Capital Board.  However, to provide an insight into how the conditions of the 
spend have been adhered to, i.e. ensuring the additional fund has been claimed 

Page 16



(spent) within the previous financial year, the project has been managed to allow 
a 100% spend on the Historic England grant, rather than a 50:50% split.  As a 
result, the balance will tip with public realm works to be undertaken in this 
financial year, Historic England having already made contribution in full, the 
Council will thereby commit a 100% contribution. 
 

5.1.2 The Council’s match funding was contractually committed to spend on High 
Street HAZ with the initial agreement.  If the Council decides to vary the spend 
within the contract, then that can be deemed acceptable.  If however it were to 
reduce the spend that this would be a breach of contract.  As such, the Council 
needs to remain committed to its commitment, having secured circa £2.4 million 
from Homes England and other contributions, alongside the £2.1 million of its 
own funds and in-kind contributions.  Flexibility around how and when funds are 
invested helps with this spend in a very cost-effective way. 

 
5.2 Legal  

 
5.2.1 The Council has agreed to appoint Balfour Beatty to deliver the Phase 3 public 

realm enhancements through the Scape framework.   
 

5.3 Relevant Policies and Plans 
 
5.3.1 Improvements in the town centre are intended to create an attractive and 

sustainable environment for people to live and visit. The HSHAZ will restore 
pride in the historic character of the town centre, providing growth and 
investment to bring residents and visitors to enjoy the facilities and environment 
created. This will contribute to the Council’s Corporate priority of ‘Safe and 
thriving places’ by contributing to the priorities of strengthening the cultural 
identity of the town, helping town centres respond to changing trends and 
attracting visitors and inward investment. 
 

5.3.2 Investment in the town centre will also support Development Plan policies found 
in the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and Kettering Town Centre 
Area Action Plan.  JCS Policy 10: Provision of Infrastructure, JCS Policy 2: 
Historic Environment and JCS Policy 12: Town Centres and Town Centre Uses 
all support the efforts of High Street HAZ, endorsing this important and hugely 
beneficial investment to Kettering town centre. 
 

5.4 Risk  
 

5.4.1 The Council, its consultants, and the delivery team are working collaboratively 
to ensure HSHAZ investment in Kettering town centre is achieved within agreed 
timescales, and in the most appropriate manner.  Ultimately, as the period of 
the programme progresses, the time available for investing funds reduces.  If 
deadlines for delivery are missed, that part of the funding unspent will need to 
be returned to Historic England.  Officers are working closely to ensure any 
delays in progress are limited, making choices sufficiently early to ensure the 
chances for returning funds are limited.  The HSHAZ team will be working 
closely with Finance and senior management colleagues over the coming 
months to ensure that as the major part of the investment is the Council’s own 
Capital expenditure, it is done so with proper and full governance.   

 
5.5 Consultation  

Page 17



 
5.5.1 Consultation on the original part of the scheme (Phase 1) was undertaken with 

Members of the team notifying businesses and residents of the works during 
December 2021.  They also provided a Consultation Trailer in High 
Street/Meadow Road, for a morning to meet with any interested parties to 
discuss the scheme to be delivered.  Electronic communication has been 
important throughout the scheme design, with interested parties being directed 
to a drone fly-through of the completed design.  Discussions have now also 
taken place with the businesses in the extended area of the scheme for phase 
2, similar discussions are planned for phase 3.   
 

5.6 Consideration by Scrutiny 
 

5.6.1 This report has not been considered by Scrutiny.  
 
5.7 Climate Impact 
 
5.6.1 Improvements in the town centre are intended to create an attractive and 

sustainable environment for people to live and visit, thereby reducing the 
numbers who need to travel away from the town.  Also, the town centre benefits 
from a broader range of public transport and active travel options, encouraging 
their use rather than use of the private car.  The public realm enhancements 
have set a target of achieving at least 10% biodiversity net gain, this was 
achieved through retaining all existing trees and the planting 4+ new trees and 
the planting of native species or off-site planting in Meadow Road Park.  The 
intention is these targets will continue to be met in through phase 3.   

 
5.8 Equality Implications 

 
5.8.1 An Equalities Screening Assessment has been completed. There are no 

negative equality impacts identified. 
 

5.9 Community Impact 
 
5.7.1 HSHAZ will restore pride in the historic character of the town centre, providing 

growth and investment to bring residents and visitors to enjoy the facilities and 
environment created.  It will also contribute towards enhancing important historic 
buildings and Kettering town centre Conservation Area.  

 
6. Background Papers 

 
6.1 North Northamptonshire Executive – 5th August 2022 

https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=
324  

6.2 North Northamptonshire Executive – 22nd February 2022 
https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=
345  
 
 
 

Page 18

https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=324
https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=324
https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=345
https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=142&MId=345


EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
Chair: Councillor Lloyd Bunday 

Committee Officer: David Pope 

 
 

Decision/Item Summary of Item Report Author  

 

Exempt Item 

0
3
 A

u
g

 2
0
2

2
 

3
1
 A

u
g

 2
0
2

2
 

2
8
 S

e
p

 2
0
2

2
 

Online Ceremonies Booking To receive a progress update on the 
online registrations project 
 

Sadie Nightingale N     

High Street Heritage Action 
Zone Phase 3 

To consider and comment on the 
project update 
 

     

Forward Plan for Executive To receive the Forward Plan for 
Executive  
 

Lisa Hyde N    

Parking Enforcement/Strategy To receive information on the current 
situation regarding parking 
enforcement and future parking 
strategy in North Northamptonshire 
 

George Candler N    

Dumped Vehicle Strategy To receive an update on the current 
strategy for the removal of dumped 
vehicles 
 

George Candler N    

 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  
 

North Northamptonshire Council 
 

1 JULY 2022 TO 31 OCTOBER 2022 

 
 

  
Published by: Democratic Services 

 
Leader of North Northamptonshire Council: Councillor Jason Smithers 

 
 
 

P
age 21

A
ppendix ii



INTRODUCTION 
 
This is the North Northamptonshire Council’s Forward Plan.  It is published pursuant to The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  Its purpose is to provide the required 28 days notice of the Council’s intention 
to take ‘key decisions’ and to hold meetings or parts of meetings in private.  It gives advance notice of all the “key decisions” and “exempt 
decisions” which the Executive or another body or officer so authorised are likely to take over a four month period.  The Plan is updated on a 
rolling monthly basis. 
 

The Members of the Executive are: 
 

Councillor Jason Smithers Leader of North Northamptonshire Council 
 

Councillor Helen Howell Deputy Leader of North Northamptonshire Council 
Sport, Leisure, Culture and Tourism 

Councillor Helen Harrison Adults, Health and Wellbeing 

Councillor Scott Edwards Children, Families, Education and Skills 

Councillor Harriet Pentland Climate and Green Environment 

Councillor Lloyd Bunday Finance and Transformation 

Councillor David Brackenbury Growth and Regeneration 

Councillor Graham Lawman Highways, Travel and Assets 

Councillor Matt Binley Housing, Communities and Levelling-Up 

Councillor David Howes Rural Communities and Localism 

 
The concept of a “key decision” is intended to capture the most important or significant decisions. “Key decisions” will normally be made at 
meetings open to the press and public.  The press and public will only be excluded from such meetings as and when the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer considers that this is necessary in order to avoid the public disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
The authority has decided that a Key Decision is one which is likely:- 

(a) to result in the authority incurring expenditure of which is, or the making of savings which are, significant; or  
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more electoral wards in the area 

of the authority.” 
 
 The Council has decided that significant expenditure or savings are those amounting to above £500,000. 
 
In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes North Northamptonshire Council will also have regard to any guidance for the time 
being issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000. 
 

P
age 22



At times it may be necessary for the North Northamptonshire Council to give consideration to items where the public may be excluded from the 
meeting.  Members of the public are excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that, in the view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed.  This includes exclusion from access to any pertinent 
documents.  Details of the exemption categories can be found in the ‘Access to Information Procedure Rules’ section in the Council’s 
Constitution.  This plan provides advance notice of any items which may be held in private. 
 
Paragraph 5 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 provides for 
members of the public to make representations to the Council on why an exempt item should be considered in public, rather than in private. 
Persons wishing to make such representations and/or obtain further details in respect of any issues referred to in the Plan should contact the 
undermentioned officer. 
 
The Monitoring Officer may also include in the Forward Plan references to such other decisions, which are to be taken by the Council or any of its 
Committees or Sub-Committee or officers as they consider appropriate. These will be those decisions that are considered to be significant or 
sufficiently important and/or sensitive so that it is reasonable for a member of the public to expect it to be recorded and published. 
 
All general questions or queries about the contents of this Forward Plan or about the arrangements for taking key decisions should be raised with 
David Pope, Democratic Services.   
 
Please email:  democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 

P
age 23

https://northnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=198&MId=507&Ver=4&Info=1&a=1
mailto:democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk


 
 

July 2022 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Capital Programme 
Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Budget Forecast Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Garden Waste: Future 
Service Provision 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Place 

& Economy 
 

 
 

Homes for Ukraine 
Programme 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

 
 

Cornerstone Project 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director - Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

 
 

P
age 24



Suicide Prevention 
Strategy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Director of Public 
Health 

 

 
 

Rough Sleeping Initiative 
2022-2025 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

Yes – 
Statutory and 
voluntary 
sector 
partners  
 

14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director - Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 
 

Procurement of Vehicle 
Lease for Adult 
Management Team 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director - Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

 
 

Oakley Vale, Phase 8 
and 9 Land Sale 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Place 

& Economy 
 

 
 

Housing Income 
Management Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director - Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

 
 

Microsoft 365 Licensing 
Renewal 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 14th July 
2022 

 

Director of 
Transformation 

 

 

P
age 25



 
 

August 2022 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Capital Programme 
Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18th August 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Budget Forecast Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18th August 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Pollinator Strategy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18th August 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Place 

& Economy 
 

 
 

Tree Strategy and Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18th August 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Place 

& Economy 
 

 
 

Hackney Carriage Fares 
Tariff 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18th August 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – Place 

& Economy 
 

 
 

P
age 26



 
 

September 2022 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report 
Author 

Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Capital Programme 
Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 15th September 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Budget Forecast Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 15th September 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

 
 

Priors Hall Golf Course 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 15th September 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director - 
Adults, 

Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

 
 

P
age 27



 

 

October 2022 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Capital Programme 
Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 13th October 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 
 

Budget Forecast Update 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 13th October 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 
 

Towns Fund Multi-use 
Building 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 13th October 
2022 

 

Executive 
Director – 
Place & 

Economy 

 
 

 

P
age 28


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 29th June 2022
	4 Kettering High Street Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) - Phase 3
	5 Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work Programme
	6. Forward Plan  - Jul 22 to Oct 22


